1968

# State of Utah, by and Through Its Road Commission v. General Oil Company, a Utah Corporation : Appellant's Brief

Utah Supreme Court

### **STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE**

This is an action in eminent domain, brought to condemn certain land for highway purposes.

### **DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT**

At the first trial of this action the jury returned a verdict of \$4,147.52 as just compensation for the taking of defendant's property. Upon defendant's motion the trial court granted a new trial or, in the alternative, an additur of \$15,000.00

Plaintiff declined the additur, and at the second trial the court entered judgment upon a verdict of the jury in the amount of \$22,050.00, plus interest and costs.

## **RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL**

By this appeal plaintiff seeks reversal of the order of the trial court granting defendant's request for a new trial and directing that judgment be entered upon the verdict of the jury returned in the first trial of this action. In the alternative plaintiff requests a new trial.

## **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

The parcel of land in question, consisting of 1.04 acres more or less, occupied at the time of taking (March 19, 1964, the date of service of summons herein) the north-west corner of the intersection of 1500 South Street and University Avenue, Provo City. The plaintiff sought to condemn the property in question in exercise of its right of eminent domain for the purpose of constructing an access route to interstate highway I-15 in the nature of an extension of South University Avenue.

At the time of taking (March 19, 1964), South University Avenue adjacent to the property was unpaved, and the character of land use in the area was primarily agricultural (R. 147). The general location of the proposed freeway access route, however, had been public knowledge since at least as early as February, 1958 (R. 118). In anticipation of construction of the access route as an extension of South University Avenue, the land on both sides of the road was rezoned September 21, 1959, from an agricultural classification to a "special highway service zone" (R. 150) in which the primary permitted uses are motels, filling stations and restaurants (R. 159).

Actual development of the area for these purposes did not begin until approximately two years after the tak-

ing, the access route being completed and opened for use in late fall, 1966 (R. 126).

At the first trial, four expert witnesses testified as to the value of the subject property. Defendant's witnesses testified to values of \$25,800.00 and \$24,010.00 respectively (Transcript 91, 163). Plaintiff's witnesses both testified to a value of \$3,120.00 (Transcript 215, 23).

At the second trial defendant's witnesses testified to values of \$23,700.00 and \$24,010.00 (R. 247-49, 327-29). Plaintiff's witnesses again testified to a value of \$3,120.00 (R. 384, 476).

Defendant's witnesses testified that at the time of taking the influence of the proposed development on the value of the subject property was direct and certain and accordingly based their evaluations in part on subsequent transactions in the area and on transactions on West Center Street involving service station sites (R. 219-47, 290-327).

Plaintiff's witnesses testified that at the time of taking the influence of the proposed development on the value was speculative and remote (R. 480-81) and accordingly based their estimates solely on transactions on South University occurring prior to the time of taking (R. 369-83, 448-75).

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

#### THE COURT ERRED IN GRANTING A NEW TRIAL.

At the conclusion of the first trial, the court granted defendant's motion for a new trial on the ground that "the verdict of the jury on the issues of just compensation was, as a matter of law, inadequate . . . ."

Rule 59(a) (5) Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides for the granting of a new trial on the ground of "excessive and inadequate damages, appearing to have been given under the influence of passion or prejudice."

The narrow limits within which a trial court is justified in disregarding the verdict of a jury have been stated as follows in *Lund v. Phillips Petroleum Co.*, 10 Utah 2d 276, 351 P.2d 952 (1960):

"We do not suggest that the jury is infallible nor that the court should abdicate its undoubted supervisory responsibility to see that justice is done by setting aside a verdict if it plainly appears that there has been a miscarriage of justice. But this is done with reluctance and only when it is plainly apparent that the jury has abused its prerogatives by refusing to accept uncontroverted credible evidence or otherwise ignoring or misapplying proven facts or established law. If the courts were ready to override jury verdicts whenever they disagreed with them, the right of trial by jury would be effectively abrogated and the trial may as well be to the court in the first place." 10 Utah 2d 282.

At the first trial of this action (as also the second) there was conflict in the evidence as to value between plaintiff's and defendant's witnesses. The unique function of the jury is to weigh such conflicting evidence and the credibility of the witnesses. The jury did so and concluded, apparently, that plaintiff's witnesses were to be believed and that defendant's witnesses were not to be believed.

In granting defendant's motion for a new trial, the court in effect substituted its judgment as to the credibility of the witnesses for that of the jury. The jury was



in possession of substantial evidence to sustain its verdict and the granting of a new trial was, in the light of this Court's language in *Lund*, an abuse of its discretion. As the Court stated in *Wellman v. Noble*, 12 Utah 2d 350, 366 P.2d 201 (1961):

"The trial judge should not grant a new trial, merely because in his opinion the amount of the award was insufficient or excessive. Such action is warranted only when to the trial judge, 'it seems clear that the jury has misapplied or failed to take into account proven facts; or misunderstood or disregarded the law; or made findings clearly against the weight of the evidence.'" 12 Utah 2d 354.

In that case the trial court was affirmed in granting a new trial because "the jury had clearly been mistaken or misconceived the facts or the law on the amount of the damage . . . ." 12 Utah 2d 353.

Compare *Porcupine Reservoir Co. v. Lloyd W. Keller Corp.*, 15 Utah 2d 318, 392 P.2d 620 (1964), a condemnation case, which this Court remanded for a new trial where

"the trial court clearly indicated that in his opinion the jury verdict was less than the smallest amount which the jury could reasonably award under the evidence . . . ." 15 Utah 2d 320.

Our case is distinguishable from *Porcupine Reservoir* in that the verdict was within the limits of the evidence as to value. Applying the standard of that case to our facts, it is clear the trial court erred in granting the new trial.

## POINT II

THE COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING EVIDENCE OF MARKET VALUES OF PROPERTIES AFFECTED BY THE IMPROVEMENT IN QUESTION.

It is a well established principle of law that:

"As a general thing, under the greatly prevailing view, the owner of land taken in eminent domain is not entitled to recover an increase or enhancement in the value of his land due to the proposed improvement, although there is authority to the contrary." 27 Am. Jur. 2d 79, Eminent Domain § 283 (1966).

As a logical corollary of this principle, it is held that evidence of the market values of comparable properties, which values have been increased by the proposed improvement, is inadmissible. Thus *State Highway Comm'n of South Dakota v. Lacey*, 79 S.Dak. 451, 113 N.W.2d 50, (1962) held that where selling prices of other properties in the locality reflected an important enhancement of value because of the building of a highway for which the condemnee's property was taken, such selling prices were inadmissible to determine the award to the condemnee.

Similarly in *Cole v. Boston Edison Co.*, 338 Mass. 661, 157 N.E.2d 209 (1959) the sales price of other property reflecting a substantial enhancement of value because of the turnpike project in question was held inadmissible on the question of the value of property taken for the project.

*City of Houston v. Collins*, 310 S.W. 2d 697 (Tex. 1958) held evidence as to sales subsequent to the taking inadmissible unless the price sought to be offered after the taking was not derived from the sale of any property benefited by the improvement in question.

In this case the trial court admitted defendant's evi-

dence both (a) as to the value of the subject property as affected by the improvement and (b) as to other property the value of which was influenced by the improvement.

Thus defendant's witnesses, Wilbur R. Harding and Werner Kiepe, both testified to the sale of certain property located at 900 South Street and University Avenue (R. 234-38, 320-22). The sale took place in September of 1965 (R. 235). Harding testified that the "motivating factor" in the sale was the prospect of traffic flow from the completion of the freeway (R. 235).

The same witness, Harding, testified to the value of that part of defendant's parcel not taken, using as the basis of his evaluation the capitalization of a lease between defendant and Holiday Inn entered into in the summer of 1965 (R. 238-44).

Under the authorities cited, the admission of this evidence was substantial and prejudicial error and plaintiff is entitled to a new trial.

### CONCLUSION

It is clear that the trial court erred (1) in granting defendant's motion for a new trial and (2) in admitting evidence of values as affected by the improvement. Under these circumstances plaintiff is entitled to either (1) judgment on the verdict returned in the first trial or (2) a new trial.