1968

State of Utah, by and Through Its Road Commission v. General Oil Company, a Utah Corporation : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

JUDGE HARDING DID NOT ERR IN GRANTING A NEW TRIAL BASED ON THE INADEQUATE AWARD OF DAMAGES AND OTHER ERRORS OF LAW.

1. *The granting of a new trial lies within the sound discretion of the trial judge and such order will not be overturned on appeal unless an abuse of discretion is clearly and manifestly apparent.*

The basic claim of Plaintiff's Appeal herein is that District Judge Harding, in ordering a new trial because of

whether the verdict returned is against the clear weight of the evidence so as to indicate bias, prejudice or misunderstanding, and whether the verdict represents substantial justice in the matter. This post-verdict function has long been accepted in Utah as the rightful duty and responsibility of the trial judge. *Paul v. Kirkendall*, 1 U.2d 1, 261 P.2d 670 (1953); *Wellman v. Noble*, 12 U.2d 350, 366 P.2d 701 (1961). The rule is fundamental in this jurisdiction that the trial judge has wide discretion to grant or deny a motion for new trial and additur under Rule 59. Thus in the early case of *Lehi Irrigation Co. v. Moyle*, 4 Utah 327, 9 Pac. 867 (1886), this Court said:

“Motions for new trials are always addressed to the sound discretion of the court, and whether granted or denied, the discretion of the trial court will be presumed to have been properly exercised, and will be so held unless the contrary be made clearly to appear.”

“Wide latitude” was the description given to the trial Court’s discretion on new trial motions in *Beck v. Dutchman Coalition Mines Co.* 2 U.2d 104, 269 P.2d 867 (1954). And in *Klinge v. Southern Pacific Co.* 89 Utah 284, 57 P.2d 367 (1936), it was held that such wide discretion will not be lightly regarded or overturned by this Court on appeal:

“Hence, a wide discretion is given the trial court in such matter and rarely is interfered with by an appellate tribunal whether the awarded compensation by the court below was held adequate or inadequate.” P. 297 of 89 Utah.

In reality, the argument of Plaintiff herein reduces the role of the trial judge to that of a ministerial officer. It

the legal inadequacy of the damage award, committed prejudicial error entitling Plaintiff to a reversal of the Order and a reinstatement of the initial jury verdict. That Order made under Rule 59 and on motion of the Defendant, found and declared that the jury award of \$4,147.53 was "*as a matter of law, inadequate and that good cause supports Defendant's Motion.*" (R. 137). The motion made by Defendant cited as grounds for new trial that the verdict was against the clear weight of the testimony under any reasonable view of the evidence so as to manifest prejudice and misunderstanding by the jury, and was further based on errors of law independent of the inadequacy of the jury award.

Plaintiff's argument is that the trial court's function is limited to the impanelment of the jury, ruling upon evidence and instructing upon the applicable law. So far as the review of the adequacy or inadequacy of a damage award by the jury, Plaintiff contends that the trial judge has no involvement. Thus, it is concluded that Judge Harding had no authority to review the verdict on just compensation or to order a new trial because of its inadequacy. (App. Br. p. 4).

A fair diagnosis of such argument quickly reveals its error. For not only does the argument fail in the end result, but its very structure rests upon a misconception of the inherent function of the trial judge. For that function is not only one of an administrator during the jury trial as Plaintiff argues, but consists also of conducting, upon motion or *sua sponte*, a post-verdict review to determine

does not recognize the implicit power and discretion which Judge Harding possessed and exercised in granting the new trial motion. Plaintiff was not by such Order denied its right of trial by jury as possibly might be the case on a Judgment N.O.V. Jury trial was fully preserved to the parties and in fact, the matter was subsequently tried to and determined by a jury before Judge Elton after the Plaintiff refused the additur award of Judge Harding.

2. *The rule of wide discretion of the trial judge on new trial motion is observed in eminent domain litigation.*

In the review of an eminent domain verdict to determine its legal adequacy or inadequacy, there is no break with the dominant rule that the trial judge maintains broad discretion to grant a new trial because of the inadequacy of the damage award. As noted in 27 *Am. Jur.* 2d 364, Sec. 448 Em. Dom., the power to order a new trial is fully maintained:

“The trial court has a wide discretion in granting a new trial in a condemnation case. It is held that where the court is dissatisfied with the verdict in eminent domain proceedings, the court has not only the authority but also the duty to set the verdict aside and grant a new trial. *Similarly, it is held to be the duty of the trial court to set aside a verdict in eminent domain and grant a new trial where it appears to the court that the verdict is inadequate under the evidence.*” (Emphasis added)

In holding that the trial judge has the responsibility to determine under a new trial motion, whether a con-

demnation verdict was a legally inadequate assessment of damages, the South Dakota Supreme Court stated in *State Highway Commission v. Madsen*, 119 N.W. 2d 924 (S. D. 1963):

“The trial judge has the primary responsibility for determining whether a new trial should be granted because of inadequate damages. In making that decision he is vested with a broad judicial discretion. Manifestly because of his participation in the trial he is in a far better position than are the judges of this court to say whether the award does substantial justice. Consequently we may not disturb his decision except for a clear abuse of that discretion.”

To the same effect is *Abercrombie v. Kansas State Highway Commission*, 185 Kan. 47, 340 P.2d 377 (1959).

This Court in *Porcupine Reservoir Co. v. Keller*, 15 U.2d 318, 392 P.2d 620 (1964) sustained an additur and new trial order of the trial Court entered because of the latter's findings that the severance damage verdict of the jury was inadequate. In so doing, this Court held firm to the rule that:

“Granting or denying a new trial is largely in the discretion of the trial court.”

3. *Judge Harding found as a matter of law, that the jury verdict was legally inadequate.*

The record is clear on the point that Judge Harding, in granting the new trial Order of which the State herein laments, did not simply substitute his judgment of damages for that of the jury. It was not, as the Plaintiff seems to contend, just a case of the trial court disagreeing with a jury verdict. Rather, it was the judgment of Judge

Harding that this verdict was, *as a matter of law*, against the manifest weight of the evidence at trial, i.e., that reasonable minds would not differ that in light of the testimony adduced, the damage award of the jury was clearly inadequate. In such conclusion, Judge Harding came within the full measure of his discretion as outlined by this Court under the ruling law cited herein as well as within the framework of the recent opinion in *Haslam v. Paulsen*, 15 U.2d 185, 389 P.2d 736 (1966) :

“While we agree that the trial court cannot, without any reason whatsoever, grant such a motion [new trial] upon mere whim or caprice, it nevertheless has a wide latitude of discretion with respect thereto in conformity with the general supervisory powers which it necessarily has over the verdicts of juries in the interest of the administration of justice.”

POINT II.

THE PLAINTIFF HAS WHOLLY FAILED IN THIS APPEAL TO DEMONSTRATE WHEREIN JUDGE HARDING ABUSED HIS DISCRETION IN GRANTING A NEW TRIAL.

1. *The presumption is in favor of the new trial Order and against the Plaintiff.*

While plaintiff has expressed its displeasure with the new trial Order of Judge Harding, it has fallen short of the required mark of demonstrating wherein the trial court manifestly or clearly abused its discretion in the matter.⁴

⁴This Court has left no doubt in its decisions that to turn back a new trial order of a District Judge, the appellant has the burden of showing there to be a *manifest* or *clear* abuse of discretion. *Klinge v. Southern Pacific Co.*, *supra*; *Lehi Irrigation Company v. Moyle*, *supra*. “Manifest and clear” normally means that there is no reasonable basis, whatsoever, to support the ruling. *State v. Fischer*, 38 N.J. 40, 183 A.2d 11. (1962)

It has not referred this Court to a solitary fact that would reasonably form the basis for a claim of manifest and clear abuse. To the contrary, Plaintiff relies on the argument that since there was some evidence admitted in the first trial from which the jury might find for the Plaintiff, that such evidence forecloses the trial judge from finding the damage award to be legally inadequate. (See App. Br. p. 4 last para). The trouble with such argument is that it was rejected out of hand in *Wellman v. Noble*, 12 U.2d 350, 366, P.2d 701 (1961). In sustaining the lower court's order of a new trial because of inadequate damages, this Court said therein:

“The court did not abuse its discretion in granting a new trial.

The trial court has a broad discretion in ruling on such a motion which we should not disturb unless there is a plain abuse thereof. * * *

* * * The mere fact that the jury verdict is supported by substantial evidence sufficient to make a prima facie case and furnish a reasonable basis for their decision does not require that the trial court's order granting a new trial should be reversed. This is especially true where the order for the new trial is based on the amount of the verdict.”

The Court went on to say in *Wellman* that on the question of inadequacy of damages, if there was substantial evidence to support the motion for new trial, the trial judge will not be deemed to have abused his discretion:

“This court has held in determining whether there has been an abuse of discretion, that where there is substantial evidence showing a reasonable basis to support a verdict in favor of the party mov-

to damages." *Paul v. Kirkendall, supra*. The new trial Order of Judge Harding was clearly within his discretion under the wilderness of precedent of this Court and should stand affirmed.

POINT III.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN RECEIVING EVIDENCE ON MARKET VALUE BASED IN PART ON FACTORS ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE IMMINENT FREEWAY PROJECT.

1. *Under the Ward decision in Utah, evidence of enhancement in value of the condemned property as well as of enhanced comparable properties is a proper element of consideration in determining market value.*

Little time need be taken with Point II of Plaintiff's Appeal, for the issue of law raised there has been fully settled by the decision of this Court in *Weber Basin Conserv. District v. Ward*, 10 U.2d 29, 347 P.2d 862 (1949). Simply stated, it is Plaintiff's claim that elements of value which are referable to or caused by the development of the proposed freeway project are not admissible and are not compensable in fixing the market value of the subject property, which was condemned for the widening of an access-road to the freeway. Accordingly, factors in the market, including sales of comparable property, which have been influenced by the imminency of the freeway development are not, under Plaintiff's argument, relevant on the compensation issue. This argument was advanced by the Plaintiff on several occasions before Judge Harding

ing for a new trial, there is no abuse of discretion in granting a new trial."

That there was substantial evidence underlying the motion for new trial of General Oil in the case at bar, is not open for debate. Plaintiff, in fact, acknowledges substantiality. The rationale of *Wellman* is dispositive of Plaintiff's argument and of its appeal herein. Plaintiff cites as its only other authority for reversal of the Harding new trial Order, the decision of this Court in *Lund v. Phillips Petroleum Co.*⁵ That case does not at all control this Appeal, for involved therein was the issue of whether the trial court committed error in permitting a case to go to the jury and in the subsequent refusal of the judge to disturb the verdict. If *Lund* stands for anything in the case at hand, it upholds the principal of discretion of the trial judge in granting or denying a new trial.

The law presumes that the new trial Order of Judge Harding was regular and that it was made upon proper foundation. As stated by this Court in *Klinge v. Southern Pacific Co., supra*:

"The rule is well established that a presumption exists that a trial court did not err or abuse his discretion in granting or refusing a new trial, and that the burden is upon him complaining of the ruling to show a clear abuse of discretion."

The Plaintiff's burden as required by *Klinge* has not been met in this Appeal. In the absence of a clear showing thereof, this Court is "slow to interfere with a trial court's ruling granting or refusing a new trial on questions relating

⁵ 10 U.2d 276, 351 P.2d 952 (1960)

v. Miller, 317 U. S. 369 (1942) to the effect that the value of property for condemnation should be determined "without consideration for the fact that the condemnor plans improvements." In its opinion, this Court first referred to the *Miller* doctrine and then *expressly* rejected the same by holding that all factors (including enhancement of value from the public project) could be taken into consideration by the trier of fact in determining the fair market value of the condemned property:

"The basis of the attack made upon the defendants' expert evidence is that they relied upon the increased value of the land occasioned by Weber Basin's plans for improvement of the area in increasing farm values thereabouts. * * * The argument supporting such rule appears to be that the condemnnee should not be allowed an advantage from the fact that the condemnor is improving the area and the latter be required to pay a higher price and thus in effect suffer a penalty because of its own improvements. The contrary view is that eminent domain statutes are designed only to give the condemnor the power to purchase property whether the condemnnee desires to sell or not, but are not purposed to give the condemnor any superior bargaining position as to price.

We are in accord with what appears to be the better view, adopted by the trial court, that the condemnnee is entitled to the fair market value of his property at the time of the service of summons in the condemnation proceedings as provided by statute; and that all factors bearing upon such value that any prudent purchaser would take into account at that time should be given consideration, including any potential development in the area reasonably to be expected."

(including an earlier and independent case) and in the trial before Judge Elton from which Plaintiff now appeals. Both Judges Harding and Elton ruled against Plaintiff's argument and permitted evidence of enhancement in value from the freeway project, such rulings being largely made on the strength of the *Ward* decision.

Plaintiff cites as authority for its argument an encyclopedia and three cases from other jurisdictions.⁶ But it has ignored and failed to even cite in its Appeal Brief the plain holding of this Court in the *Ward* case. Indeed, "ignore" is a proper characterization of the Plaintiff's Brief herein, for the *Ward* decision and its rationale was fully researched, explored and argued by both parties before both trial Judges Harding and Elton.

The answer to the contention made by Plaintiff was laid to rest in *Weber Basin Conserv. District v. Ward*, for the Court therein held, without dissent, that factors in the market attributable to the public project for which the property in question is condemned, may be taken into consideration in determining the fair market value of the condemned property. In *Ward* as here, the condemnor argued that the judgment of the trial court was erroneous, since the testimony of the owner on market value was based on the *increased value of the condemned land* which the water project of condemnor brought about in the area. In so arguing, the Conservancy District relied upon *U. S.*

⁶ These citations are unauthoritative and should carry no weight with this Court for they all have their footings in the doctrine announced in *U. S. v. Miller*, 317 U. S. 369 (1942), which decision was expressly rejected by this Court in *Ward*.

CONCLUSION

It is plain that the new trial Order of Judge Harding is substantially supported by the record and testimony in the case and is presumed proper. The Plaintiff has not met its burden of showing such Order to be an abuse of discretion whatsoever, much less making a showing of manifest and clear abuse. It was Judge Harding who heard the witnesses, who had a first hand view of all the evidence and proceedings throughout the trial and who observed strategy of counsel and the reaction of the jury. His judgment on new trial matters cannot under the ruling precedent of this Court be overturned, it is submitted.

The rulings of the trial court on the admissibility of the evidence relating to market value as enhanced by the imminency of the freeway project, was in full accord with the unequivocal holding of this Court in *Weber Basin Conserv. District v. Ward*. There was no error committed.

The judgment of the trial court herein should be affirmed in all respects.